
 

Understanding the experiences of people who live in 

poor-quality housing 
 

Clarification Questions 
 

Participant sample 

1. Are you looking for user experiences based on recognised segments of the 

population? 

2. Do you have a prospective sample in mind? 

3. Do you expect location to be one aspect of the diversity of the sample 

mentioned in the ITT? Would you therefore expect that projects are not wholly 

focused on one local area/region? 

4. Do you have any particular expectations about the geographic coverage within 

England, e.g. regionally and rural vs urban? 

5. In addition to the sampling criteria set out in the ITT, do you have a view on 

any geographic consideration, either regionally (within England), and / or in 

terms of people living in urban versus rural communities?  

6. I was hoping that you could offer some guidance regarding the geographical 

scope or scale anticipated. For level of funding, timescales for completion, 

and approach, we feel that we could answer the questions within our locality 

(where we are well connected to undertake this kind of work), or perhaps the 

wider region. 

7. It would be useful to know if the funders are expecting a national piece of 

work, as this has implications for feasibility. 

8. The tender mentions any region. However, is there an expectation to ensure 

we have a sample of people from different towns? 

 

We do not have a defined sample in mind, we want bidders to decide this based on the set-

out methodology.  

We would prefer a geographic spread and diversity in terms of rural/urban, but that could 

focus on a small number of geographically diverse areas or a representative sample. Ideally 

the research would not just focus on one geographic area but we are open to suggestions.  

We want to capture a range of experiences and the final sample will be agreed with the 

successful bidder before the project begins. 

 

9. Is there a minimum number of people the research should be based on? 

 

10. Do you have any views on the scale of the study you have in mind – i.e. 

minimum number of participants? 

No. 

 



 

11. Within the sample definition it is likely that there will be homes which range 

from only just qualifying as non-decent to those which emphatically meet the 

definition. Do you want us to represent a complete cross section of this range 

or should we focus specifically on one segment (e.g. those with the worse 

affected homes)? 

A focus on the worst effected homes would be great, however we realise that it would be 

difficult for the entire sample to be those in worse effected homes - as accessing such 

homes can be problematic. 

 

12. To what extend should we be trying to understand the needs of all different 

communities within 50-70 years old living in non-decent homes, for example 

people with extra/different needs; people from range of cultural backgrounds; 

people living within different areas of England etc. Are there are particular 

communities of interest? 

 

13. We note that the sampling should reflect a breadth in experience and 

circumstance, but is there any groups types of experience of circumstance we 

should prioritise? 

We are more interested in the experiences of people approaching later life (people aged 50 

to 70). However, this is a diverse group and we would expect the research team identify a 

sample that reflects this breadth of experience and circumstance. We would like this 

diversity to be reflected in demographics of the sample.  

Please note that our focus is mainstream housing and not specialist housing.  

 

14. Please can you advise us if you have any links with housing providers/other 

organisations who may be able to supply sample for the study? We would also 

welcome information on whether people on these sample lists have agreed to 

be contacted for research purposes. 

15. Does Ageing Better have contacts within the target group i.e. people 

approaching later life facing housing difficulties? Would the successful bidder 

be able to recruit people to interview about their experiences from your 

contact group, if applicable, or should the bidder expect to recruit externally? 

16. Does Ageing Better have a list of organisations that work with people 

approaching later life, and specifically organisations dealing with housing for 

this group, who we could liaise with to find contacts and participants to 

interview?  

17. In terms of recruiting participants for this research, can you clarify how you 

might expect suitable people to be identified and approached, and the 

different mechanisms available through Ageing Better and/or your partners? 

The bidder will be expected to organise the recruitment of participants. Ageing Better cannot 

support this process. It is vital that bidders outline how they will access the sample in their 

proposal.  

 

Methodology 



 

1. What is your thinking on the use of mixed qualitative and quantitative 

questions? 

2. Is there a dimension in the literature review or in additional primary research to 

quantitively explore the poorer housing outcomes of older people, and any 

drivers (including income, tenure and health) of those outcomes? 

We are open to ideas regarding the chosen methods; however, we are looking to primarily 

use qualitative methods. The outcomes. Importance and scale of poor-quality housing is 

important context for the work and so may be covered in the literature review. Bidders may 

also find this helpful to inform their sampling. However, we expect bidders to decide on their 

methodological approaches.   

 

3. For the literature review, we can cost on the basis of an estimate of the amount 

of time required but it would be helpful to get an idea of the number and type of 

sources that are likely to be included? 

4. Are you able to give some more detail about what you would expect from a 

light-touch literature review? 

The number of sources necessary to have a comprehensive literature review is for the 

bidders to decide. 

 

5. Will there be any requirements that participants in the research agree to 

release identifiable information to accompany their responses? 

This depends on the outputs bidders suggest. We are looking for the use of creative and 

innovative methods. If this were to include, for example, video case studies, participants 

would be identifiable in some outputs. We ask that you refer to ethical considerations within 

the bid.  

In addition, Ageing Better might ask a number of participants if they would consent to their 

case studies being used in the media. Anyone who does not want to be identified for media 

purposes should not be excluded from participating – it would be completely optional.  

 

6. It may be that coronavirus safety requirements are different from July onwards 

when data collected for this project would be due to start, however also that 

some level of lockdown and/or social distancing will still apply, particularly for 

those with LTCs. In light of this, will you be expecting that bidders propose an 

approach based on current Government and Market Research Society 

guidance on safe research practice but which is flexible so it can be adapted 

as and when this guidance changes? 

Yes, we are expecting this. 

 

7. How are you planning to use the outputs from the research? Do you have any 

preferences regarding the format of outputs? 

No, we do not have a plan for the use of outputs, however, we are looking for reports and 

creative outputs. 



 

 

8. Question 6 of the research questions involves understanding what would 

enable participants to change. Please could you let us know what you have in 

mind as research outputs to answer this question – for example do you 

anticipate ideas being generated and then tested as part of this research to 

generate solutions? 

This research does not need to test the solutions. Ageing Better may do this as a 

subsequent project, but we can not confirm this at this time. 

 

9. Where do you see the balance of research falling – is the purpose more about 

illustrating the problem or devising solutions to it? 

We do not think we can define this now; this will be dependent on the final sample and 

expected outputs. We advise looking to the research questions in the ITT for guidance on 

this. 

 

Advisory Panel 

1. Is it possible to provide some more detail of what would be required of 

participants here? Specifically, around the time commitment and whether they 

will be required to provide any identifiable information that may go beyond the 

Centre for Ageing Better? 

2. Would you be able provide any further detail on your expectations for the 

advisory board mentioned in your brief? In particular, any detail you can 

provide on the expected profile of board members would be useful. 

It is for bidders to describe how the advisory panel will be used with the project, including 

time commitment. We expect an explanation for its use; however, it can be discussed further 

once the successful bidder is appointed.  

 

3. Are there stakeholders that you are in contact with and like to be included? 

Not at present.  

 

4. Would those taking part need to differ in any way from those who might 

otherwise be recruited to take part in the research more generally? E.g. 

experience of research projects, position or responsibilities in their 

community? 

This is for the bidders to decide. 

 

5. Will Centre for Ageing Better provide any support for recruiting members on 

the advisory group and/or the research participants? 

6. The brief mentions creating an advisory group with lived experience. Do you 

have individuals in mind to be part of this group or so you anticipate the 

research supplier finding suitable members? 



 

No, we want the successful research supplier to find suitable members for the advisory 

panel. Please explain your approach in your bid.  

 

Definition of non-decent homes 

1. The ITT sets out your interest in non-decent homes but also makes clear you 

are interested in wider issues. Are you expecting that a clear proportion of the 

homes of participants are formally classed as non-decent? Or would it be 

acceptable for ‘poor-quality’ to be wholly defined by the occupants themselves 

rather than formal classifications? 

The participants should not just be those who live explicitly in the formal definition of non-

decent homes, and we aren’t expecting professionals, such as surveyors, to be involved in 

determining this. However, we would expect some of the sample to reflect some of the key 

components of the government’s definition. It is likely all of the sample will be ‘defined by the 

occupant’, but bidders could think about partnering with an organisation who could help them 

source non-decent households. 

 

2. For the sample of people we wish to speak to, could you confirm that we are 

working to an accurate definition? In addition to being aged 50-70 and not 

living in retirement, care or support homes, the accommodation they live in 

must either: Fail to meet the government’s definition of a decent home, or live 

in accommodation which falls short on accessibility, light, space and digital 

connectivity.  

Yes, that is correct, but it is important to acknowledge the formal definition requires 

professional input that we are not assuming bidders request. As above, the participants 

should not just be those who live explicitly in the formal definition of non-decent homes, and 

we aren’t expecting a surveyor to be involved in determining this. 

 

3. Is it possible to provide some more clarity on your second set of criteria? E.g. 

what accessibility requirements would a home have to fail in order to qualify? 

Similarly, with space and digital connectivity? 

We are referring to self-reported problems with poor internet connection or dark homes. In 

terms of accessibility we are referring to Category 2 from the Government, Volume 1 of Part 

M document on building regulations. This is: 

Category 2 – Accessible and adaptable dwellings 

1) Reasonable provision must be made for people to; gain and access to; and, use the 

dwelling and its facilities 

2) The provision made must be sufficient to; meet the needs of the occupants with 

differing needs, including older and disabled people; and to allow the adaptation of 

the dwelling to meet the changing need of occupants over time 

 

4. You mention that, in addition to the government’s definition of non-decent 

housing, you are also interested in wider issues such as accessibility light, 

space and digital connectivity. Is affordability (including fuel poverty), 

adaptability and security of tenure also within the scope? Or are they perhaps 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-and-use-of-buildings-approved-document-m
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-and-use-of-buildings-approved-document-m


 

only in scope where the person is also living in a property which might be 

described as non-decent according to the government’s definition? 

The latter – these are important, overlapping issues we imagine will probably come out of 

the research but they don’t need to be exclusively present in the sample.  

 

5. Would you be able to open to the use of other measures of ‘decent homes’ to 

augment/support the measures set out in your Home and Dry report? 

We are open to broader measures of non-decent homes, justification for such measures 

must be discussed within the bid. Please see other questions within this section for more 

clarification of the specification for non-decent homes within this project.  

 

Other 

1. Appendix 2 asks for a schedule of rates and Section 4 also asks for day rates 

and days for each team member. Are these sections expected to be the same 

or does Section 4 require detail on all costs? 

Section 4 states a ‘total cost for the project’ in addition to day rates. This is a good place to 

provide a further breakdown of the costs you have determined as necessary to complete this 

work. Anything that might not be included in the day rates should be included here.  

 

2. Could the response form be provided to tenders in a word document for ease 

of completion? 

The appendices for submission is available on our website in Microsoft word format.  

 

3. Are the terms and conditions negotiable – this affects whether our legal team 

reviews these now, or at the point we are successful? 

We would be open to discussing the terms and conditions on the successful appointment of 

the bidder, but we cannot guarantee that we will agree to all suggested amendments. 

 

4. Please can you send a copy of conditions of contract as it doesn’t appear to 

open on our systems? 

Here is a link to the conditions of contract. 

 

5. Can I check as a minor detail – is the template in the appendices the same for 

both ITTs? The footer suggests these might only applicable to the housing 

policy ITT. 

The appendices on the specific experiences ITT page is correct, the footer does state the 

right project title. However, this may have been recently updated. 

 

https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/itt-understanding-experiences-people-who-live-poor-quality-housing
https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-05/conditions-of-contract-2020.pdf


 

6. Can I please check the word limit for experience of people who live-in poor-

quality homes bids? 

There is a 3,000-word limit for the bid, however this word limit does not include CVs. 

 

7. How will the contractor working on this bid be expected to liaise/work 

alongside the contractor for the parallel Past, present, future and poor quality 

homes research project, as there could be important insights to share (for 

example in respect to questions in this project which would be relevant to 

policy options?) 

This will be decided with the successful bidders.  

 

8.  A number of the appendices that should be completed as part of the 

submission require a signature from an authorised signatory – given current 

working situations (and lack of access to scanner), would typed signatures be 

accepted? 

If you were appointed we would accept typed signatures during this time and arrange signed 

signatures at a later date. 


